Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: October 5, 2023 ACCEPTED: December 7, 2023 PUBLISHED: January 3, 2024

# Two-loop vertices with vacuum polarization insertion

# Taushif Ahmed,<sup>*a*</sup> Giulio Crisanti,<sup>*b*,*c*</sup> Federico Gasparotto,<sup>*d*</sup> Syed Mehedi Hasan<sup>*a*</sup> and Pierpaolo Mastrolia<sup>*b*,*c*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Regensburg,

- <sup>b</sup>Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università degli Studi di Padova,
- Via Marzolo 8, I-35131 Padova, Italy

<sup>c</sup>INFN, Sezione di Padova,

- Via Marzolo 8, I-35131 Padova, Italy
- <sup>d</sup>PRISMA Cluster of Excellence, Institut für Physik, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz, Staudinger Weg 7, D - 55099 Mainz, Germany

*E-mail:* taushif.ahmed@ur.de, giulioeugenio.crisanti@phd.unipd.it, fgasparo@uni-mainz.de, Syed-Mehedi.Hasan@physik.uni-regensburg.de, pierpaolo.mastrolia@unipd.it

ABSTRACT: We present the analytic evaluation of the second-order corrections to the massive form factors, due to two-loop vertex diagrams with a vacuum polarization insertion, with exact dependence on the external and internal fermion masses, and on the squared momentum transfer. We consider vector, axial-vector, scalar and pseudoscalar interactions between the external fermion and the external field. After renormalization, the finite expressions of the form factors are expressed in terms of polylogarithms up to weight three.

KEYWORDS: Higher-Order Perturbative Calculations, Precision QED

ARXIV EPRINT: 2308.05028



<sup>93040</sup> Regensburg, Germany

## Contents

Introduction	1
Vertex diagrams with vacuum polarisation insertion	3
Form factors	4
Computation of form factors	6
4.1 Master integrals	7
4.1.1 System of differential equations	7
4.1.2 Boundary conditions	9
Renormalization	10
Results	11
6.1 Renormalized form factors	11
6.2 Anomalous magnetic moment	12
Conclusions	13
Matrices for the canonical differential equation	14
Evaluating the renormalization constants	14
B.1 $Z_3^{(1)}$ renormalization constant	14
B.2 Diagram for subdivergence renormalization	16
B.2.1 $Z_V^{(2)}$ renormalization constant	16
	Introduction Vertex diagrams with vacuum polarisation insertion Form factors Computation of form factors 4.1 Master integrals 4.1.1 System of differential equations 4.1.2 Boundary conditions Renormalization Results 6.1 Renormalized form factors 6.2 Anomalous magnetic moment Conclusions Matrices for the canonical differential equation Evaluating the renormalization constants B.1 $Z_3^{(1)}$ renormalization constant B.2 Diagram for subdivergence renormalization B.2.1 $Z_V^{(2)}$ renormalization constant

# 1 Introduction

The analytic evaluation of the two-loop corrections to the electron form factors in Quantum Electrodynamics (QED) can be considered among the pioneering projects that triggered the developments of mathematical techniques and concepts for the evaluation of multi-loop Feynman integrals in Quantum Field Theory, which is still ongoing nowadays. Originally addressed by means of dispersion relations and giving a finite mass to the photon, in order to regulate the otherwise divergent integrals [1-3], the contributing vertex graphs were also later evaluated [4, 5] within the dimensional regularization scheme, by using the differential equations method [6-8]. The results of [3-5] were among the first studies showing that classical polylogarithms could not represent an exhaustive set of functions for Feynman integrals beyond one-loop, therefore, pointing to the need of introducing an extended set of polylogarithms, such as the Harmonic Polylogarithms (HPLs) [9] — later embedded in the wider class of Generalised Polylogarithms (GPLs) [10]. HPLs turned out to be useful both for the direct integration of the dispersive integrals [3], and for solving the differential equations of the master integrals (MIs) in terms of iterated integrals [4], in combination with suitable change of variables, needed to rationalize the integration kernels—a procedure that would have been later dubbed as alphabet rationalization.

The feasibility of the analytic evaluation of the electron form factors at two-loop and beyond in QED was the basis of successive studies involving the heavy-quark form factors at two-loop in Quantum Chromodynamics (QCD), in the case of a vector interaction, and later extended, to account for the scalar, pseudoscalar, and pseudo-vector interactions [11– 23]. From a more formal point of view, form factors turn out to be also important for investigating the singular behavior of massive amplitudes in gauge theories, through their relation to the corresponding massless approximation [24].

In the context of scattering processes, the same two-loop vertex diagrams considered in the above studies appear, on the one side, among the (factorised) diagrams contributing to processes with the same number of external particles, yet with a larger number of loops [25–30], and, on the other side, to processes having the same number of loops, yet with more legs. In this respect, the two-loop three-point integrals contributing to the vector form factors also appear in the evaluation of the two-loop QED corrections to the amplitude of the four-fermion scattering [31–33] and in the two-loop QCD corrections to heavy-quark pair production in the light-quark fusion channel [34].

In this work, we present, for the first time, the contribution to the vertex form factors of a heavy lepton with mass  $m_e$ , coupled to a generic external particle, i.e. through a vector, axial-vector, scalar and axial couplings, coming from a two-loop graph with the insertion of a (vector) gauge boson vacuum polarization, with a closed-loop of a different type of heavy lepton, with mass  $m_i \neq m_e$ .

We hereby address the evaluation of the renormalised form factors by decomposing them, via integration-by-parts identities (IBPs) [35, 36] and Laporta's algorithm [37], to a linear combination of seven master integrals, and by evaluating the latter using the Magnus method for differential equations [38].

After UV-renormalization, the renormalized form factors are finite and carry the complete dependence on the squared transferred-momentum  $q^2 = s$ , as well as on both the internal and the external lepton masses, respectively  $m_i$  and  $m_e$ . They are expressed in terms of GPLs up to weight three; equivalent expressions in terms of classical polylogarithms are given as well.

In the case of vector coupling, the evaluation of the diagram considered in the current work was previously discussed in [39, 40], where semi-analytic expressions of the form factors were given as one-fold integrals of kernels that are computed analytically by means of the hyper-spherical integration method. The numerical evaluation of our analytic results, by means of [41], is in perfect agreement with the results of [39] implemented in [42]. An independent evaluation of the same diagram was also considered in [31], where the MIs were also computed using the method of differential equations. Our calculation is performed using a different change of variables, yielding a simple structure of the system of differential equations. The set of MIs presented in this work have been successfully checked against the numerical values provided by SECDEC [43] and AMFLOW [44] and are in full agreement with those presented in [31]. We also verify that the vector form factor  $F_2$  at zero momentum transfer agrees with the known expression of the anomalous magnetic moment given in [45, 46].

The analytic expression of the vector form factors presented in this work can be directly applied in updating the analyses of the next-to-next-to-leading order (NNLO) QED



Figure 1. Two-loop vertex diagrams with vacuum polarization insertion. The left panel corresponds to the (axial-)vector case. The right panel corresponds to the (pseudo-)scalar case. The internal fermion with mass  $m_i$  is represented with a thick line, while the external fermion with mass  $m_e$  is represented with a thin line.

corrections to the four fermion scattering with two massive lepton species. Additionally, they can be used also to complete the analytic evaluation of the QCD corrections to the heavy-quark form factors [13–17], as well as the QCD corrections to the Higgs boson decay in a pair of  $b\bar{b}$ -quarks [22].

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, the definition of the vertex function is introduced, and the corresponding form factors for the vector, axial vector, scalar and pseudoscalar are discussed in section 3. In section 4, we discuss the integral decomposition and the evaluation of the master integrals. In section 5, we discuss the renormalization procedure. Finally, the results and conclusions are presented in sections 6 and 7 respectively. Appendix A contains further details on the structure of the matrices appearing in the system of differential equations obeyed by the master integrals. In appendix B, we elaborate on the renormalization and on the evaluation of the one- and two-loop counterterm diagrams and of the relative renormalization constants.

# 2 Vertex diagrams with vacuum polarisation insertion

We consider the two-loop vertex diagrams  $V^{(k)}$  (the index (k) refers to a labelling introduced earlier in the literature [4, 5, 13–17]) pertaining to a generic (axial-)vector or (pseudo-)scalar boson of momentum  $q^{\mu}$  with virtuality  $q^2 = s$  that couples to an external on-shell fermionantifermion pair, respectively carrying momenta  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  with  $p_1^2 = p_2^2 = m_e^2$ . The diagrams are subject to correction through the insertion of a vacuum polarization involving a massless vector boson coupled to a fermion-antifermion pair of mass  $m_i \neq m_e$ , as depicted in figure 1.

The corresponding expressions are given by

$$V^{(k)}(s, p_1, p_2) = \overline{u}(p_1) \Gamma^{(k)} v(p_2)$$
(2.1)

with

$$\Gamma^{(k)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} \times (\mu^{2})^{2\epsilon} \int \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} \frac{d^{d}k_{i}}{(2\pi)^{d-2}}\right) (-i\gamma_{\nu}) \\ \times iS(k_{1}, m_{e}) \times \mathbf{J} \times iS(k_{1} - p_{1} - p_{2}, m_{e}) \\ \times (-i\gamma_{\rho}) iP^{\nu\eta}(k_{1} - p_{1})iP^{\rho\lambda}(k_{1} - p_{1}) \\ \times (-i)^{2} (-1) \operatorname{Tr}(\gamma_{\eta} iS(k_{2}, m_{i})\gamma_{\lambda} iS(k_{1} + k_{2} - p_{1}, m_{i})),$$
(2.2)

where  $\alpha$  is the fine structure constant,  $\mu^2$  is the mass-scale introduced to keep the fine structure constant dimensionless in dimensional regularization, with  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ , and  $k_i(i = 1, 2)$  are the loop momenta. The fermion and the gauge boson propagators (in Feynman gauge) are respectively defined as

$$S(q,m) = \frac{q + m}{q^2 - m^2 + i\varepsilon} \quad \text{and} \quad P_{\mu\nu}(q) = -\frac{g_{\mu\nu}}{q^2 + i\varepsilon}$$
(2.3)

with the Minkowski metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ . The symbol **J** depends on the type of external boson, which is given by

$$\mathbf{J} = \begin{cases} -i \left( g_V \gamma_\mu + g_A \gamma_5 \gamma_\mu \right), & \text{(axial-)vector coupling,} \\ -i \left( g_S + g_P \gamma_5 \right), & \text{(pseudo-)scalar coupling.} \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

The quantities  $g_V$ ,  $g_A$ ,  $g_S$ ,  $g_P$  represent the vector, axial vector, scalar and pseudo scalar coupling constants respectively.

# 3 Form factors

Following [5, 13, 14], a vertex  $\Gamma_{\mu}$  describing the (axial-)vector coupling of fermions to a gauge boson admits a decomposition in terms of *four* scalar form factors  $F_{1,2}$  and  $G_{1,2}$  (valid at *any* number of loop and *any* topology). Depending on whether we consider (axial-)vector or (pseudo-)scalar coupling, the number of form factors changes. For the former case, although the general decomposition involves six form factors, two do not survive due to gauge invariance. Hence, the decomposition in terms of four form factors  $F_{1,2}$  and  $G_{1,2}$ reads [5, 13, 14],

$$\Gamma_{\mu} = -i \left( g_V F_1(s, m_i, m_e) \gamma_{\mu} + i \frac{g_V}{2m_e} F_2(s, m_i, m_e) \sigma_{\mu\alpha} q^{\alpha} + g_A G_1(s, m_i, m_e) \gamma_5 \gamma_{\mu} + \frac{g_A}{2m_e} G_2(s, m_i, m_e) \gamma_5 q_{\mu} \right),$$
(3.1)

with  $\sigma_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{i}{2}[\gamma_{\alpha}, \gamma_{\beta}]$  and  $q^{\beta} = (p_1 + p_2)^{\beta}$ .

The form factors  $F_i$  and  $G_i$  (with i = 1, 2) can be extracted from  $\Gamma_{\mu}$  by means of suitable projectors,  $P_{F_i}^{\mu}$  and  $P_{G_i}^{\mu}$  as

$$F_i = \operatorname{Tr}(P_{F_i}^{\mu}\Gamma_{\mu}), \quad \text{and} \quad G_i = \operatorname{Tr}(P_{G_i}^{\mu}\Gamma_{\mu}).$$
 (3.2)

The explicit expressions for the projectors in  $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$  dimensions are given by

$$P_{Fi}^{\mu}(s, p_1, p_2) = \frac{\not{p}_2 - m_e}{m_e} i \left( f_{i,1} \gamma^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2m_e} f_{i,2} (p_2 - p_1)^{\mu} \right) \frac{\not{p}_1 + m_e}{m_e},$$
  

$$P_{Gi}^{\mu}(s, p_1, p_2) = \frac{\not{p}_2 - m_e}{m_e} i \gamma_5 \left( g_{i,1} \gamma^{\mu} - \frac{1}{m_e} g_{i,2} (p_2 + p_1)^{\mu} \right) \frac{\not{p}_1 + m_e}{m_e},$$
(3.3)

with

$$f_{1,1} = \frac{m_e^2}{2g_V(d-2)(4m_e^2 - s)}, \qquad f_{1,2} = \frac{2(d-1)m_e^4}{g_V(d-2)(4m_e^2 - s)^2}, \tag{3.4}$$

$$f_{2,1} = -\frac{2m_e^4}{g_V(d-2)s(4m_e^2-s)}, \qquad f_{2,2} = -\frac{2m_e^4(4m_e^2+(d-2)s)}{g_V(d-2)s(4m_e^2-s)^2}, \tag{3.5}$$

and

$$g_{1,1} = \frac{m_e^2}{2g_A(d-2)(4m_e^2 - s)}, \qquad g_{1,2} = \frac{m_e^4}{g_A(d-2)s(4m_e^2 - s)}, \tag{3.6}$$

$$g_{2,1} = \frac{2m_e^4}{g_A(d-2)s(4m_e^2-s)}, \qquad g_{2,2} = \frac{4(d-1)m_e^6 - (d-2)sm_e^4}{g_A(d-2)s^2(4m_e^2-s)}.$$
(3.7)

In the derivation of the aforementioned projectors  $P_{Gi}^{\mu}(s, p_1, p_2)$ , we assume an anticommuting  $\gamma_5$  in *d* dimensions. However, we employ a non-anticommuting  $\gamma_5$ , as introduced by 't Hooft-Veltman [47] and Breitenlohner-Maison [48] for the computation of form factors in eq. (3.2). The latter is defined as

$$\gamma_5 = -\frac{i}{4!} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \gamma_\mu \gamma_\nu \gamma_\rho \gamma_\sigma \,. \tag{3.8}$$

We treat the Levi-Civita symbol following the prescription in [49, 50]. In particular, the contraction of the  $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  with the one from the projector is done according to the usual mathematical identity in four dimensions, but with the Lorentz indices of the resulting spacetime metric tensors all taken as *d*-dimensional. This is often known as Larin's prescription. As the Feynman diagrams considered in this article do not exhibit any anomalous behaviour—or, in other words, they fulfil non-anomalous Ward identities—the finite remainder is guaranteed to be independent of the prescription (commuting or anticommuting) adopted for  $\gamma_5$  [51, 52].<sup>1</sup>

The vertex function for the (pseudo-)scalar admits a decomposition in terms of two scalar form factors  $F_S$  and  $F_P$  [17] as

$$\Gamma = -i \left( g_S F_S(s, m_i, m_e) + g_P \gamma_5 F_P(s, m_i, m_e) \right)$$
(3.9)

with  $g_S$ ,  $g_P$  the scalar and pseudoscalar couplings, respectively. The form factors  $F_S$  and  $F_P$  can be extracted from  $\Gamma$  by means of suitable projectors,  $P_S$  and  $P_P$ , as

$$F_S = \operatorname{Tr}(P_S\Gamma), \qquad F_P = \operatorname{Tr}(P_P\Gamma), \qquad (3.10)$$

where the expressions for the projectors are given by

$$P_{S}(s, p_{1}, p_{2}) = \frac{\not{p}_{2} - m_{e}}{m_{e}} \left( \frac{i m_{e}^{2}}{2g_{S}(s - 4m_{e}^{2})} \right) \frac{\not{p}_{1} + m_{e}}{m_{e}} ,$$

$$P_{P}(s, p_{1}, p_{2}) = \frac{\not{p}_{2} - m_{e}}{m_{e}} \left( \frac{-i m_{e}^{2}}{2g_{P}s} \gamma_{5} \right) \frac{\not{p}_{1} + m_{e}}{m_{e}} ,$$
(3.11)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The form factors were also computed assuming a naive anticommuting  $\gamma_5$ -as implemented, for example, in PACKAGE-X- finding the same result regardless of the prescription employed.



Figure 2. Integral family associated to eq. (4.1). The dashed lines denotes the external leg with momentum  $q^{\mu}$ , and  $q^2 = s$ . Straight thin lines (resp. straight thick lines) denote denominators with mass  $m_e$  (resp.  $m_i$ ). Wavy lines denote massless denominators.

The form factors  $F_i$  and  $G_i$  can be computed perturbatively, as series expansions in powers of  $(\alpha/\pi)$ , as

$$F_{1} = 1 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) F_{1}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} F_{1}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3}, \qquad F_{2} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) F_{2}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} F_{2}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3}, G_{1} = 1 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) G_{1}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} G_{1}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3}, \qquad G_{2} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) G_{2}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} G_{2}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3}, F_{S} = 1 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) F_{S}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} F_{S}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3}, F_{P} = 1 + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) F_{P}^{(1)} + \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2} F_{P}^{(2)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{3},$$

$$(3.12)$$

where the superscripts (1) and (2) indicate the number of loops of the contributing diagrams. The analytic evaluation of the contributions of the two-loop diagrams in figure 1 to the form factors  $F_i^{(2)}$  and  $G_i^{(2)}$ , keeping complete dependence on the masses of the internal and of the external fermions is the main result of this work. We denote these contributions as  $F_i^{(k)}$  and  $G_i^{(k)}$ .

# 4 Computation of form factors

The evaluation of the form factors  $F_i^{(k)}$  and  $G_i^{(k)}$  proceeds by applying the relevant projectors, defined in eq. (2.2) to the vertices  $\Gamma_{\mu}^{(k)}$  and  $\Gamma^{(k)}$ . To evaluate the projectors, the Lorentz and Dirac algebra is performed in d dimensions and implemented in the Mathematica packages PACKAGE-X [53] and FEYNCALC [54] independently. The result of this operation is a linear combination of scalar Feynman integrals, all members of the same integral family given by

$$I_{n_1,\dots,n_7} \equiv \int d^{\widetilde{d}} \widetilde{k_1} \, d^{\widetilde{d}} \widetilde{k_2} \frac{1}{D_1^{n_1} \cdots D_7^{n_7}} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where

$$D_{1} = k_{1}^{2} - m_{e}^{2}, \qquad D_{2} = (k_{1} - p_{1})^{2}, \qquad D_{3} = k_{2}^{2} - m_{i}^{2},$$
  

$$D_{4} = (k_{1} + k_{2} - p_{1})^{2} - m_{i}^{2}, \qquad D_{5} = (k_{1} - p_{1} - p_{2})^{2} - m_{e}^{2},$$
  

$$D_{6} = k_{1} \cdot k_{2}, \qquad D_{7} = p_{2} \cdot k_{2},$$
(4.2)

with  $p_1 \cdot p_2 = (s - 2m_e^2)/2$ ,  $p_1^2 = p_2^2 = m_e^2$ , represented in figure 2. We observe that  $D_1, \ldots, D_5$  carry the momentum flowing through the diagram propagators, while  $D_6$  and  $D_7$  are auxiliary denominators related to irreducible scalar products.



Figure 3. Master integrals. Dots denote squared propagators.

For computational convenience, we define the integration measure of the scalar integrals in eq. (4.1) as,

$$\widetilde{d^d k_j} \equiv \frac{d^d k_j}{i\pi^{d/2}} \left(m_e^2\right)^\epsilon \frac{1}{\Gamma(1+\epsilon)},\tag{4.3}$$

such that the two tadpole MIs read,

$$\int d\widetilde{^{d}k_1} \frac{1}{D_1^2} = \bigcirc = \frac{1}{\epsilon}, \qquad \int d\widetilde{^{d}k_2} \frac{1}{D_3^2} = \bigcirc = \frac{1}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{m_e^2}{m_i^2}\right)^{\epsilon}.$$
(4.4)

The relation between the loop integral measure and the scalar integral measure, therefore is,

$$(\mu^2)^{\epsilon} \frac{d^d k_j}{(2\pi)^{(d-2)}} = C_{\epsilon} \widetilde{d^d k_j}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where  $C_{\epsilon}$  is defined as

$$C_{\epsilon} = \left(\frac{\mu^2}{m_e^2}\right)^{\epsilon} \left(\frac{i}{4} \left(4\pi\right)^{\epsilon} \Gamma(1+\epsilon)\right) , \qquad (4.6)$$

with the limiting value  $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} C_{\epsilon} = i/4$ .

## 4.1 Master integrals

Owing to the integration-by-parts relations [35, 36] and Laporta's algorithm [37], all the integrals defined in eq. (4.1) admit a decomposition in terms of 7 master integrals,  $\mathcal{T}_i$  with  $i = 1, \ldots, 7$ , shown in figure 3, obtained with the packages LITERED [55, 56] and FIRE [57] independently.

#### 4.1.1 System of differential equations

The basis  $\mathcal{T}_i$ , up to  $\epsilon$  rescalings, obeys a system of differential equations (sDEQ) whose matrix differential has a linear dependence on  $\epsilon$ . By using the method of the Magnus/Dyson exponential matrix [38], this set is transformed into a canonical basis I with elements:

$$I_{1} = \epsilon^{2} \mathcal{T}_{1}, \qquad I_{2} = \epsilon^{2} \mathcal{T}_{2}, \\I_{3} = \epsilon^{2} m_{e} m_{i} \left(\mathcal{T}_{3} + 2\mathcal{T}_{4}\right), \qquad I_{4} = \epsilon^{2} m_{e}^{2} \mathcal{T}_{4}, \\I_{5} = \epsilon^{2} \sqrt{-s} \sqrt{4m_{e}^{2} - s} \mathcal{T}_{5}, \qquad I_{6} = \epsilon^{3} \sqrt{-s} \sqrt{4m_{e}^{2} - s} \mathcal{T}_{6}, \\I_{7} = -\frac{\epsilon^{2}}{2} \sqrt{-s} \sqrt{4(m_{e}^{2} - m_{i}^{2}) - s} \left(2(s - 4m_{e}^{2})\mathcal{T}_{7} - 2\mathcal{T}_{4} - \mathcal{T}_{3}\right), \qquad (4.7)$$

which obey a sDEQ having the following canonical structure [58]:

$$d\mathbf{I}(\epsilon, x, y) = \epsilon \, d\mathbb{A}(x, y) \, \mathbf{I}(\epsilon, x, y), \qquad d = dx \, \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + dy \, \frac{\partial}{\partial y}. \tag{4.8}$$

In this way, the dependence on the  $\epsilon$  parameter is factorized, and the entries of the total differential matrix  $d\mathbb{A}$  are rational in the variables x and y. The latter depend on the original variables  $s, m_i^2$  and  $m_e^2$ , through the relations

$$-\frac{s}{m_e^2} = \frac{4x^2}{1-x^2}, \qquad \frac{m_i}{m_e} = \frac{1-y^2}{1-2xy+y^2}, \qquad (4.9)$$

with inverse

$$x = \frac{\sqrt{-s}}{\sqrt{4m_e^2 - s}}, \qquad y = \frac{m_i\sqrt{-s} - m_e\sqrt{4(m_e^2 - m_i^2) - s}}{(m_e + m_i)\sqrt{4m_e^2 - s}}, \tag{4.10}$$

whose expressions are obtained with the help of the package RATIONALIZEROOTS [59]. The special form of eq. (4.8) implies that the solution can be written as a Taylor series expansion in power of  $\epsilon$ , as

$$\mathbf{I}(\epsilon, x, y) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{I}^{(j)}(x, y) \,\epsilon^j \,, \tag{4.11}$$

with

$$\mathbf{I}^{(j)} = \sum_{i=0}^{j} \int_{\gamma} \underbrace{d\mathbb{A} \dots d\mathbb{A}}_{i \text{ times}} \mathbf{I}^{(j-i)}(x_0, y_0), \qquad (4.12)$$

where  $\gamma$  is some regular path in the (x, y)-plane, and  $\mathbf{I}^{(j-i)}(x_0, y_0)$  is a vector of boundary constants. In terms of the original variables, the boundary vector corresponds to the (canonical) MIs evaluated in the limit  $s \to 0$  and  $m_i = m_e$ .

Explicitly, the matrix in eq. (4.8) is given by:

$$d\mathbb{A}(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{9} \mathbb{M}_i d\log\left(\eta_i(x,y)\right) \tag{4.13}$$

with

$$\eta_1 = y, \qquad \eta_2 = 1 + x, \qquad \eta_3 = 1 + y, \\ \eta_4 = x - y, \qquad \eta_5 = 1 - x, \qquad \eta_6 = 1 - y, \\ \eta_7 = 1 - xy, \qquad \eta_8 = 1 - 2xy + y^2, \qquad \eta_9 = x - 2y + xy^2,$$

$$(4.14)$$

and where the coefficient matrices  $\mathbb{M}_i$ , shown in appendix A, have rational numbers as entries.

The solution to the differential equation is valid in the region

$$0 < x < 1$$
  $\bigcap$   $0 < y < \frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - x^2}}{x}$ , (4.15)

where all the letters in eq. (4.14) are real and positive. In terms of the variables  $s, m_i$  and  $m_e$ , eq. (4.15) corresponds to the (unphysical) region

$$m_i > m_e \quad \bigcap \quad s < 4(m_e^2 - m_i^2) \qquad (m_e > 0).$$
 (4.16)

Given eqs. (4.13), (4.14), the solution of eq. (4.12) can be written in terms of GPLs, defined recursively as

$$G(a_1, \dots, a_n; z) = \int_0^z \frac{dt}{t - a_1} G(a_2, \dots, a_n; t), \qquad G(\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{n \text{ times}}; z) = \frac{1}{n!} \log^n(z).$$
(4.17)

# 4.1.2 Boundary conditions

The determination of the boundary constants proceeds by combining both quantitative and qualitative properties of the considered integrals:

- the boundary values of  $I_{1,2}$  are determined via direct integration, taking into account eq. (4.4);
- the boundary constants of  $I_{3,4}$  are determined by considering the subsystem formed by the first four MIs and using a different variable,  $z = m_e/m_i$ . The boundary constants for this subsystem are fixed at z = 0. The boundary constants for  $I_{3,4}$ , expressed in the original variables x and y, are determined by matching the general solution against the abovementioned subsystem, in the equal mass limit.
- the boundary values of  $I_{5,6,7}$  are computed in the limit  $s \to 0$  with  $m_i = m_e$ , where they are expected to vanish, due to the prefactors appearing in the definition of the canonical bases and the regularity of the MIs  $\mathcal{T}_{5,6,7}$ .

As a useful consistency check, the boundary constants were also evaluated numerically with the package AMFLOW [44] at the point s = 0,  $m_i = m_e$  and reconstructed using the PSLQ algorithm [60].

The boundary vector takes a simple form:

$$\mathbf{I}(x_0, y_0) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ I_3(x_0, y_0) \\ I_4(x_0, y_0) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^5), \qquad (4.18)$$

with

$$I_{3}(x_{0}, y_{0}) = -\frac{1}{4}\pi^{2}\epsilon^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\left(6\pi^{2}\log(2) - 21\zeta(3)\right)\epsilon^{3} + \frac{1}{120}\left(-4320\text{Li}_{4}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) + 31\pi^{4} - 180\log^{4}(2) - 360\pi^{2}\log^{2}(2)\right)\epsilon^{4}, \quad (4.19)$$
$$I_{4}(x_{0}, y_{0}) = \frac{1}{3}I_{3}(x_{0}, y_{0}).$$

We used POLYLOGTOOLS [61] for the algebraic manipulation of the GPLs, and GINAC [41] for their numerical evaluation. The MIs were successfully compared against the numerical values provided by PYSECDEC [43] and AMFLOW, as well as against the set of MIs presented in [31]. The analytic expression of the MIs, written in terms of GPLs up to weight w = 4 are provided in the supplementary material <results.m> accompanying this article, as well as the corresponding arXiv version.

#### 5 Renormalization

The diagrams depicted in figure 1 constitute a gauge invariant subset of vertex diagrams that depend on both  $m_i$  and  $m_e$ , and thus the UV renormalization can be addressed independently of other contributions. The renormalization of other divergent graphs depending solely on a single mass scale  $m_e$  has been performed separately in [5]. The renormalized vertex functions  $\Gamma_{\mu}^{(k)\text{ren}}$  and  $\Gamma^{(k)\text{ren}}$  are defined by the following combination of diagrams,

namely by adding two conuterterm diagrams to the unrenormalized vertices, and are computed in a two steps procedure. The first type of counterterm diagrams represents the subtraction of the one-loop sub-divergence, achieved by renormalizing the vacuum polarisation insertion in the on-shell scheme, with

$$\swarrow \otimes \checkmark = Z_3^{(1)}(-g_{\lambda\eta}\ell^2 + \ell_\lambda\ell_\eta), \qquad (5.2)$$

where  $\ell^{\mu} = k_1^{\mu} - p_1^{\mu}$  is the momentum flowing through the insertion. The one-loop renormalization constant  $Z_3^{(1)}$  is implicitly defined by requiring

$$\lim_{\ell^2 \to 0} \left( \swarrow \bigcirc + \checkmark \bigotimes \lor \right) = 0.$$
 (5.3)

The second type of counterterm diagrams, defined as,

$$= -i \left( Z_V^{(2)} g_V \gamma_\mu + Z_A^{(2)} g_A \gamma_5 \gamma_\mu \right), \quad - - \left( Z_S^{(2)} g_S \mathbb{1} + Z_P^{(2)} g_P \gamma_5 \right),$$

$$(5.4)$$

cancel the genuine two-loop residual divergences of the vertex. The two-loop renormalization constants with  $Z_j^{(2)}$ ,  $j \in \{V, A, S, P\}$ , are implicitly defined by

$$= -\lim_{s \to 0} \left[ \checkmark + \checkmark \right],$$

$$= -\lim_{s \to 0} \left[ - \checkmark + - \checkmark \right].$$

$$(5.5)$$

Using IBPs, the renormalization constants admit the following expressions in terms of MIs,

$$Z_3^{(1)} = -\frac{4}{3} \left( \frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_\epsilon \right) \bigodot ,$$

$$Z_j^{(2)} = a_{j,1} \bigodot + a_{j,2} \bigodot + a_{j,3} - + a_{j,4} - ,$$

$$(5.6)$$

where the coefficients  $a_{j,k}$  are not shown explicitly. After inserting the expression of the MIs, they can be expressed as Laurent series in  $\epsilon$  as

$$Z_{3}^{(1)} = -\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}C_{\epsilon}\right)\frac{4}{3\epsilon}v^{-2\epsilon},$$

$$Z_{V}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}C_{\epsilon}\right)^{2}\left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right)\right),$$

$$Z_{A}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}C_{\epsilon}\right)^{2}\left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right)\right),$$

$$Z_{\epsilon}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}C_{\epsilon}\right)^{2}\left(\frac{2}{\epsilon} - \frac{8}{\epsilon}\left(1 + 3\log(v)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right)\right)$$
(5.7)

$$Z_{S}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{3}{3\epsilon} \left(1 + 3\log(v)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right)\right),$$
$$Z_{P}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_{\epsilon}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{2}{\epsilon^{2}} - \frac{8}{3\epsilon} \left(1 + 3\log(v)\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{0}\right)\right),$$

where  $v = m_i/m_e$ . We note that the difference between  $Z_V$  and  $Z_A$ , as well as between  $Z_S$  and  $Z_P$ , begins from the finite term onwards. More details on the evaluation of the renormalization constants can be found in appendix B, where in particular the coefficients for j = V are derived as an illustrative example.

#### 6 Results

#### 6.1 Renormalized form factors

For computational convenience, we introduce the rescaled form factors  $\mathcal{F}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}$ , defined as

$$F_i^{(k)\text{ren}} = C_\epsilon^2 \,\mathcal{F}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}, \qquad G_i^{(k)\text{ren}} = C_\epsilon^2 \,\mathcal{G}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}. \tag{6.1}$$

The renormalized form factors  $\mathcal{F}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}$ , with  $i \in \{1, 2, S, P\}$ , and  $\mathcal{G}_i^{(k)\text{ren}}$ , with  $i \in \{1, 2\}$ , are expressed in terms of 74 GPLs up to weight w = 3, out of which 50 depending on x, with weights in the set

$$\left\{-1, 1, y, \frac{1}{y}, \frac{y^2 + 1}{2y}\right\},\tag{6.2}$$

and 24, on y, with weights in the set

$$\{-1, 0, 1, -i, i\}.$$
(6.3)

Alternatively, we also provide their expression in terms of logarithms and classical polylogarithms, which turns out to be convenient for the numerical evaluation and for the series expansion of the form factors. The conversion of the GPLs into classical polylogarithms can be handled with the algorithm developed in [62].<sup>2</sup> The renormalized form factors  $\mathcal{F}_{1,2}^{(k)\text{ren}}$  are in addition verified to be in numerical agreement with [39]. Additionally, all the renormalized form factors are independently re-calculated using the variable choices and MIs presented in [31], and are found in complete agreement.

The expressions of the renormalized form factors  $\mathcal{F}_{1,2,S,P}^{(k)\text{ren}}$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{1,2}^{(k)\text{ren}}$  in terms of GPLs, and in terms of classical polylogarithms constitute the main results of this communication. Their expressions, too long to be shown here, as well as an implementation for their numerical evaluation, can be found in the supplementary material <results.m>, and <evaluator.m>, respectively accompanying this article, as well as the corresponding arXiv version.

#### 6.2 Anomalous magnetic moment

The limit  $s \to 0$  of  $F_2^{(k)\text{ren}}$  corresponds to the two-loop, mass dependent contributions to the leptonic g-2. The limit can be considered at the diagrammatic level-following the discussion in appendix B-and the form factor can be expressed in terms of  $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,3,4}$ .

For generic  $\epsilon$ , its expression in terms of MIs reads

$$F_2^{(k)\text{ren}}(0, m_i, m_e) = a_1 \quad \textcircled{} + a_2 \quad \textcircled{} + a_3 \quad \textcircled{} + a_4 \quad \textcircled{} \quad (6.4)$$
with

with

$$a_i = \hat{a}_i C_\epsilon^2, \tag{6.5}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{a}_{1} &= \frac{8\epsilon \left(\left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon \left(8\epsilon^{3}-4\epsilon^{2}+30\epsilon+3\right)-41\right)+18\right)m_{i}^{2}-2 \left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon \left(8\epsilon^{3}-12\epsilon-1\right)+4\right)+1\right)m_{e}^{2}\right)\right)}{(\epsilon+1)(2\epsilon-3)(2\epsilon-1)(2\epsilon+1)(3\epsilon-2)(3\epsilon-1)m_{e}^{2}}, \\ \hat{a}_{2} &= \frac{8\epsilon \left((\epsilon+1) \left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon (12\epsilon (3\epsilon-2)-55\right)+31\right)+6\right)m_{e}^{2}-3 \left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon (4\epsilon (5\epsilon+6)-23\right)-29\right)+18\right)m_{i}^{2}\right)}{3(\epsilon+1)(2\epsilon-3)(2\epsilon-1)(3\epsilon-2)(3\epsilon-1)m_{e}^{2}}, \\ \hat{a}_{3} &= \frac{8m_{i}^{2} \left(\left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon (4(\epsilon-1)\epsilon (4\epsilon+3)-13\right)+5\right)+6\right)m_{e}^{2}+\left(\epsilon \left(\epsilon (3-2\epsilon (4\epsilon^{2}-6\epsilon+27)\right)+67\right)-30\right)m_{i}^{2}\right)}{(\epsilon+1)(2\epsilon-3)(2\epsilon-1)(3\epsilon-2)(3\epsilon-1)m_{e}^{2}}, \\ \hat{a}_{4} &= \frac{16 \left((\epsilon+1)^{2} \left(\epsilon (4\epsilon (5\epsilon-6)-1)+6\right)m_{e}^{2}m_{i}^{2}-4(\epsilon-1)\epsilon (\epsilon+1) \left(4\epsilon^{2}-2\epsilon-1\right)m_{e}^{4}\right)}{(\epsilon+1)(2\epsilon-3)(2\epsilon-1)(3\epsilon-2)(3\epsilon-1)m_{e}^{2}}, \\ &+ \frac{\left(\epsilon (\epsilon (23-4\epsilon (5\epsilon+6))+29)-18\right)m_{i}^{4}}{(\epsilon+1)(2\epsilon-3)(2\epsilon-1)(3\epsilon-2)(3\epsilon-1)m_{e}^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.6)$$

Inserting the explicit expressions for the MIs, and considering just the finite term in the  $\epsilon \to 0$  limit, eq. (6.6) yields,

$$F_{2}^{(k)\text{ren}}(0, m_{i}, m_{e}) = \frac{4}{z^{2}} - \frac{25}{36} + \left(\frac{1}{3} - \frac{3}{z^{2}}\right)G(0; z) + \frac{(4 + 5z - z^{3})}{2z^{4}}G(-1, 0; z) + \frac{(4 - 5z + z^{3})}{2z^{4}}G(1, 0; z),$$

$$(6.7)$$

where  $z = m_e/m_i$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In particular, we observe that by exploiting the shuffle algebra of the GPLs and/or adding a small positive imaginary parameter  $i\delta$  to suitable weights, we were able to recast the results in terms of appropriate combinations of GPLs with complex weights, whose conversion to classical polylogarithms involves neither Heasviside  $\theta$ -function nor sgn-function in the region of interest.

Eq. (6.7) is an alternative, yet equivalent expression to the one presented in  $[45]^3$  and revisited in [46]. It can be written in terms of logarithms and dilogarithms, upon the substitutions

$$G(0; z) = \log(z),$$
  

$$G(1, 0; z) = \log(z) \log(1 - z) + \text{Li}_2(z),$$
  

$$G(-1, 0; z) = \log(z) \log(1 + z) + \text{Li}_2(-z).$$
(6.8)

# 7 Conclusions

We presented the analytic evaluation of the second-order corrections to the massive form factors, coming from two-loop vertex diagrams with a vacuum polarization insertion, with exact dependence on the external and internal fermion masses, and on the squared momentum transfer. We considered vector, axial-vector, scalar, and pseudoscalar interactions in the coupling between the external fermion and the external field. The calculation was performed within the dimensional regularization scheme. Using integration-by-parts identities, the form factors were decomposed in terms of a basis of seven master integrals. The latter were evaluated by means of the differential equation method, making use of Magnus exponential matrix. The renormalized form factors were expressed in terms of generalised polylogarithms up to weight three, and in addition converted to classical polylogarithms.

The presented results can be considered as the last, missing contributions to the problem of the analytic evaluation of the second-order corrections to the massive form factors in QED and QCD, within the dimensional regularisation scheme, a problem which began to be addressed about two decades ago. The expressions of the form factors evaluated in this work can be straightforwardly applied in the context of the evaluation of the next-to-nextto-leading order virtual QED and QCD corrections to the decay of a massive neutral boson into heavy particles, or to the four (massive) fermion scattering amplitudes.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Carlo Carloni Calame and Manoj Mandal for interesting discussions and for fostering our collaboration, as well as Yannick Ulrich, Tim Engel and Adrian Signer, for the numerical comparisons of the renormalised vector form factors. It is a pleasure to acknowledge the colleagues of the theory initiative of the MUonE collaboration for stimulating discussions at various stages. The work of TA was supported by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) through the Research Unit FOR 2926, Next Generation perturbative QCD for Hadron Structure: preparing for the Electron-ion collider, project number 409651613. FG has been supported by the Cluster of Excellence Precision Physics, Fundamental Interactions, and Structure of Matter (PRISMA EXC 2118/1) funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) within the German Excellence Strategy (Project ID 390831469).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The variable x in eq. (5) in ref. [45] corresponds to  $z^{-1}$ .

# A Matrices for the canonical differential equation

In this appendix we list the matrices  $\{\mathbb{M}_i\}_{i=1}^9$  appearing in eq. (4.13)

# **B** Evaluating the renormalization constants

In this appendix, we describe in detail the evaluation of the renormalization constants for the vector form factors. A similar procedure has been followed in the other cases.

# B.1 $Z_3^{(1)}$ renormalization constant

The renormalization constant  $Z_3^{(1)}$  is defined implicitly by the following equation

$$\lim_{\ell^2 \to 0} \left( \swarrow + \checkmark \otimes \checkmark \right) = 0. \tag{B.1}$$

In order to derive its explicit expression, we expand the one-loop two point function in terms of scalar master integrals

To evaluate the limit  $\ell^2 \to 0$  it is necessary to expand the two point function, as a power series in  $\ell^2$ , up to the first order as:

$$-\bigcirc - = \bigcirc \left( j_0 + j_1 \ell^2 + \mathcal{O}(\ell^4) \right), \qquad (B.3)$$

so that, by using Taylor series expansion, we can identify

$$j_0 \bigcirc = -\bigcirc - \Big|_{\ell^2 = 0}, \qquad j_1 \bigcirc = \frac{d}{d\ell^2} \left( -\bigcirc - \right) \Big|_{\ell^2 = 0}.$$
 (B.4)

By direct inspection, the  $\ell^2 \rightarrow 0$  limit can be taken diagrammatically, (as in this example the integral is finite),

$$-\bigcirc_{\ell^2=0} = \bigcirc_{\ell^2=0} , \qquad (B.5)$$

which implies the value  $j_0 = 1$ .

Using IBPs, we can also evaluate the first derivative of the 2-point integral,

$$\frac{d}{d\ell^2} \left( -\bigcirc - \right) = \frac{2m_i^2}{\ell^2(4m_i^2 - \ell^2)} - \bigcirc - - \frac{\ell^2 \epsilon - 2m_i^2}{\ell^2(\ell^2 - 4m_i^2)} \bigcirc , \qquad (B.6)$$

(which corresponds to the differential equation), and take the  $\ell^2 \to 0$  limit as follows,

$$j_{1} \bigcirc = \left(\frac{2m_{i}^{2}}{\ell^{2}(4m_{i}^{2}-\ell^{2})} - \bigcirc - -\frac{\ell^{2}\epsilon - 2m_{i}^{2}}{\ell^{2}(\ell^{2}-4m_{i}^{2})} \bigodot \right)\Big|_{\ell^{2}=0},$$
  
$$= \left(\frac{2m_{i}^{2}}{\ell^{2}(4m_{i}^{2}-\ell^{2})} \bigodot \left(1+j_{1}\ell^{2}+\mathcal{O}(\ell^{4})\right) - \frac{\ell^{2}\epsilon - 2m_{i}^{2}}{\ell^{2}(\ell^{2}-4m_{i}^{2})} \bigodot \right)\Big|_{\ell^{2}=0},$$
(B.7)

which simplifies to

$$j_1 = \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{\epsilon}{m_i^2} - 2j_1 + \mathcal{O}(\ell^2) \right) \Big|_{\ell^2 = 0} = \frac{1}{4} \left( \frac{\epsilon}{m_i^2} - 2j_1 \right) \,. \tag{B.8}$$

The latter can be read as an equation in  $j_1$ , whose solution gives  $j_1 = \epsilon/6m_i^2$ , hence fixing our Taylor series to be

$$-\bigcirc -=\bigcirc \left(1+\frac{\epsilon}{6m_i^2}\ell^2\right)+\mathcal{O}(\ell^4)\,. \tag{B.9}$$

Finally, this result can be inserted into eq. (B.2), to obtain

$$\mathcal{N} \bigcirc \mathcal{N} = \left(\frac{4}{3} \bigcirc + \mathcal{O}(\ell^2)\right) \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_{\epsilon}\right) \left(-g_{\mu\nu}\ell^2 + \ell_{\mu}\ell_{\nu}\right), \tag{B.10}$$

and thus

$$Z_3^{(1)} = -\frac{4}{3} \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_\epsilon\right) \bigoplus_{\alpha} = -\frac{4}{3\epsilon} \left(\frac{m_e^2}{m_i^2}\right)^\epsilon \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_\epsilon\right), \qquad (B.11)$$

where in the last equality we have used eq. (4.4).

#### B.2 Diagram for subdivergence renormalization

We consider the decomposition in terms of MIs of

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{1}^{\mu}\left(\checkmark\checkmark\right)\right] = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}C_{\epsilon}\right)\left(\frac{2\left(2\left(\epsilon-1\right)\left(2\epsilon+1\right)m_{e}^{2}+s\right)}{\epsilon\left(2\epsilon-1\right)\left(4m_{e}^{2}-s\right)}\right)\left(-\frac{\left(4m_{e}^{2}-s\left(2\epsilon^{2}-\epsilon+2\right)\right)}{\epsilon\left(4m_{e}^{2}-s\right)}\right)\left(-\frac{2}{\epsilon\left(4m_{e}^{2}-s\right)}\right)\left($$

and

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[P_{2}^{\mu}\left(\swarrow \bigotimes \right)\right] = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_{\epsilon}\right) \left(\frac{4(2\epsilon+1)m_{e}^{2}}{(2\epsilon-1)\left(s-4m_{e}^{2}\right)} \bigcirc -\frac{4(2\epsilon+1)m_{e}^{2}}{s-4m_{e}^{2}} \longrightarrow \right]$$

The one-loop MIs, although simple, are computed with the method of differential equations, using the change of variables as in eq. (4.9) to ensure compatibility with the unrenormalized form factors.

# B.2.1 $Z_V^{(2)}$ renormalization constant

We define  $Z_V^{(2)}$  through the requirement that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \operatorname{Tr} \left( P_{F1}^{\mu} \Gamma_{\mu}^{(k) \operatorname{ren}} \right) = 0, \qquad (B.13)$$

which, by employing eq. (5.1), implies

$$Z_{V}^{(2)} = -\lim_{s \to 0} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ P_{F1}^{\mu} \left( \swarrow \bigotimes \right) \right] - \lim_{s \to 0} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ P_{F1}^{\mu} \left( \checkmark \bigotimes \right) \right]$$
$$= -\lim_{s \to 0} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ P_{F1}^{\mu} \left( \checkmark \bigotimes \right) \right] - \lim_{s \to 0} \left[ F_{1}^{(k)} \right].$$
(B.14)

The first contribution on the r.h.s. can be evaluated by using eq. (B.12) and eq. (B.9), giving

To evaluate  $F_1^{(k)}$  in the limit  $s \to 0$  we proceed in a similar manner to in that in section B.1. By considering the leading term of the master integrals  $\mathcal{T}_{5,6,7}$  with respect to s we obtain

$$O = O + O(s) = -\frac{2\epsilon}{4m_e^2} + O(s),$$

$$O = O + O(s),$$

$$O = O + O(s) = \frac{\epsilon}{8m_e^2(m_e^2 - m_i^2)} + O(s) + O(s),$$

$$+ \frac{m_i^2(2\epsilon + 1) - m_e^2}{8m_e^2(m_e^2 - m_i^2)} + \frac{(2\epsilon + 1)m_i^2 - (3\epsilon + 1)m_e^2}{4m_e^2(m_e^2 - m_i^2)} + O(s).$$
(B.16)

The integrals  $\mathcal{T}_{1,2,3,4}$  do not depend on s and thus do not need to be expanded. Using these identities we can evaluate the limit as

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \left[ F_1^{(k)} \right] = a_1 \bigoplus + a_2 \bigoplus + a_3 \bigoplus + a_4 \bigoplus , \quad (B.17)$$
th

 $a_i = \hat{a}_i \, C_\epsilon^2 \,,$ 

with

and

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{a}_{1} &= \left( \frac{2\epsilon(4\epsilon - 5)(\epsilon(2\epsilon + 7) - 7)(\epsilon + 1)^{2}}{(\epsilon - 1)(2\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon + 3)(9\epsilon^{3} - 7\epsilon + 2)} + \frac{4m_{i}^{2}\epsilon(\epsilon((5 - 4\epsilon)\epsilon - 7) + 4)}{m_{e}^{2}(2\epsilon - 1)(9\epsilon^{3} - 7\epsilon + 2)} \right), \\ \hat{a}_{2} &= \left( \frac{4m_{i}^{2}\epsilon(\epsilon(\epsilon(2\epsilon + 19) - 7) - 4)}{m_{e}^{2}(\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon - 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} - \frac{8(\epsilon - 1)(\epsilon + 1)}{(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} \right), \\ \hat{a}_{3} &= \left( \frac{4m_{i}^{4}(\epsilon(\epsilon(2\epsilon(4\epsilon - 7) + 17) + 9) - 10)}{m_{e}^{2}(\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon - 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} + \frac{4m_{i}^{2}(\epsilon(\epsilon(21 - 4\epsilon(\epsilon + 3)) + 3) - 6)}{(\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon - 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} \right), \\ \hat{a}_{4} &= \left( \frac{8m_{i}^{4}(\epsilon(\epsilon(2\epsilon + 19) - 7) - 4)}{m_{e}^{2}(\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon - 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} + \frac{8m_{i}^{2}(-\epsilon - 1)(\epsilon(\epsilon(2\epsilon + 15) - 21) + 6)}{(\epsilon + 1)(2\epsilon - 1)(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} + \frac{16m_{e}^{2}(\epsilon - 1)(\epsilon + 1)}{(3\epsilon - 2)(3\epsilon - 1)} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(B.18)

Finally, by summing the two relevant contributions, the expression of  $Z_V^{(2)}$  reads  $Z_V^{(2)} =$ 

$$-\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2}\left(a_{1} \bigcirc +\left[a_{2}+\frac{4(3-2\epsilon)}{3(2\epsilon-1)}C_{\epsilon}^{2}\right] \bigcirc +a_{3} \multimap +a_{4} \multimap \right). \tag{B.19}$$

By substituting in the relevant expansions for the master integrals, at leading order, the expression for  $Z_V^{(2)}$  takes the simple form

$$Z_V^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi} C_\epsilon\right)^2 \left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)\right).$$
(B.20)

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- R. Barbieri, J.A. Mignaco and E. Remiddi, *Electron form-factors up to fourth order. I, Nuovo Cim. A* 11 (1972) 824 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R. Barbieri, J.A. Mignaco and E. Remiddi, Electron form factors up to fourth order. II, Nuovo Cim. A 11 (1972) 865 [INSPIRE].
- [3] P. Mastrolia and E. Remiddi, Two loop form-factors in QED, Nucl. Phys. B 664 (2003) 341 [hep-ph/0302162] [INSPIRE].
- [4] R. Bonciani, P. Mastrolia and E. Remiddi, Vertex diagrams for the QED form-factors at the two loop level, Nucl. Phys. B 661 (2003) 289 [hep-ph/0301170] [INSPIRE].
- [5] R. Bonciani, P. Mastrolia and E. Remiddi, QED vertex form-factors at two loops, Nucl. Phys. B 676 (2004) 399 [hep-ph/0307295] [INSPIRE].
- [6] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equations method: New technique for massive Feynman diagrams calculation, Phys. Lett. B 254 (1991) 158 [INSPIRE].
- [7] E. Remiddi, Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A 110 (1997) 1435 [hep-th/9711188] [INSPIRE].
- [8] T. Gehrmann and E. Remiddi, Differential equations for two loop four point functions, Nucl. Phys. B 580 (2000) 485 [hep-ph/9912329] [INSPIRE].
- [9] E. Remiddi and J.A.M. Vermaseren, Harmonic polylogarithms, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 725 [hep-ph/9905237] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms and mixed Tate motives, math/0103059 [INSPIRE].
- B.A. Kniehl, Two Loop QED Vertex Correction From Virtual Heavy Fermions, Phys. Lett. B 237 (1990) 127 [INSPIRE].
- [12] B.A. Kniehl, Two loop  $O(\alpha_s^2)$  correction to the  $H \to bb$  decay rate induced by the top quark, Phys. Lett. B **343** (1995) 299 [hep-ph/9410356] [INSPIRE].
- [13] W. Bernreuther et al., Two-loop QCD corrections to the heavy quark form-factors: The Vector contributions, Nucl. Phys. B 706 (2005) 245 [hep-ph/0406046] [INSPIRE].
- [14] W. Bernreuther et al., Two-loop QCD corrections to the heavy quark form-factors: Axial vector contributions, Nucl. Phys. B 712 (2005) 229 [hep-ph/0412259] [INSPIRE].
- [15] W. Bernreuther et al., Two-loop QCD corrections to the heavy quark form-factors: Anomaly contributions, Nucl. Phys. B 723 (2005) 91 [hep-ph/0504190] [INSPIRE].
- [16] W. Bernreuther et al., QCD corrections to static heavy quark form-factors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 261802 [hep-ph/0509341] [INSPIRE].
- [17] W. Bernreuther et al., Decays of scalar and pseudoscalar Higgs bosons into fermions: Two-loop QCD corrections to the Higgs-quark-antiquark amplitude, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 096002 [hep-ph/0508254] [INSPIRE].
- [18] M. Czakon, J. Gluza and T. Riemann, Master integrals for massive two-loop bhabha scattering in QED, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 073009 [hep-ph/0412164] [INSPIRE].

- [19] J. Gluza, A. Mitov, S. Moch and T. Riemann, The QCD form factor of heavy quarks at NNLO, JHEP 07 (2009) 001 [arXiv:0905.1137] [INSPIRE].
- [20] T. Ahmed, J.M. Henn and M. Steinhauser, High energy behaviour of form factors, JHEP 06 (2017) 125 [arXiv:1704.07846] [INSPIRE].
- [21] J. Ablinger et al., *Heavy quark form factors at two loops*, *Phys. Rev. D* 97 (2018) 094022
   [arXiv:1712.09889] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A. Primo, G. Sasso, G. Somogyi and F. Tramontano, Exact Top Yukawa corrections to Higgs boson decay into bottom quarks, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 054013 [arXiv:1812.07811] [INSPIRE].
- [23] R.N. Lee, A.V. Smirnov, V.A. Smirnov and M. Steinhauser, Three-loop massive form factors: complete light-fermion and large-N<sub>c</sub> corrections for vector, axial-vector, scalar and pseudo-scalar currents, JHEP 05 (2018) 187 [arXiv:1804.07310] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Mitov and S. Moch, The singular behavior of massive QCD amplitudes, JHEP 05 (2007) 001 [hep-ph/0612149] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J. Ablinger et al., Heavy quark form factors at three loops in the planar limit, Phys. Lett. B 782 (2018) 528 [arXiv:1804.07313] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Blümlein, P. Marquard, N. Rana and C. Schneider, The Heavy Fermion Contributions to the Massive Three Loop Form Factors, Nucl. Phys. B 949 (2019) 114751 [arXiv:1908.00357] [INSPIRE].
- [27] M. Fael, F. Lange, K. Schönwald and M. Steinhauser, Massive Vector Form Factors to Three Loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 172003 [arXiv:2202.05276] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M. Fael, F. Lange, K. Schönwald and M. Steinhauser, Singlet and nonsinglet three-loop massive form factors, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 034029 [arXiv:2207.00027] [INSPIRE].
- [29] M. Fael, F. Lange, K. Schönwald and M. Steinhauser, Massive three-loop form factors: Anomaly contribution, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 094017 [arXiv:2302.00693] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J. Blümlein et al., Analytic results on the massive three-loop form factors: Quarkonic contributions, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 094003 [arXiv:2307.02983] [INSPIRE].
- [31] E. Budassi et al., NNLO virtual and real leptonic corrections to muon-electron scattering, JHEP 11 (2021) 098 [arXiv:2109.14606] [INSPIRE].
- [32] R. Bonciani et al., Two-Loop Four-Fermion Scattering Amplitude in QED, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 022002 [arXiv:2106.13179] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. Broggio et al., *Muon-electron scattering at NNLO*, *JHEP* **01** (2023) 112 [arXiv:2212.06481] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M.K. Mandal, P. Mastrolia, J. Ronca and W.J. Bobadilla Torres, Two-loop scattering amplitude for heavy-quark pair production through light-quark annihilation in QCD, JHEP 09 (2022) 129 [arXiv:2204.03466] [INSPIRE].
- [35] F.V. Tkachov, A theorem on analytical calculability of 4-loop renormalization group functions, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [36] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by parts: The algorithm to calculate  $\beta$ -functions in 4 loops, Nucl. Phys. B **192** (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. Laporta, High-precision calculation of multiloop Feynman integrals by difference equations, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 15 (2000) 5087 [hep-ph/0102033] [INSPIRE].

- [38] M. Argeri et al., Magnus and Dyson Series for Master Integrals, JHEP 03 (2014) 082 [arXiv:1401.2979] [INSPIRE].
- [39] M. Fael, Hadronic corrections to μ-e scattering at NNLO with space-like data, JHEP 02 (2019) 027 [arXiv:1808.08233] [INSPIRE].
- [40] M. Fael and M. Passera, Muon-Electron Scattering at Next-To-Next-To-Leading Order: The Hadronic Corrections, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 192001 [arXiv:1901.03106] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J. Vollinga and S. Weinzierl, Numerical evaluation of multiple polylogarithms, Comput. Phys. Commun. 167 (2005) 177 [hep-ph/0410259] [INSPIRE].
- [42] P. Banerjee, T. Engel, A. Signer and Y. Ulrich, QED at NNLO with McMule, SciPost Phys. 9 (2020) 027 [arXiv:2007.01654] [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Borowka et al., pySecDec: a toolbox for the numerical evaluation of multi-scale integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 222 (2018) 313 [arXiv:1703.09692] [INSPIRE].
- [44] X. Liu and Y.-Q. Ma, AMFlow: A Mathematica package for Feynman integrals computation via auxiliary mass flow, Comput. Phys. Commun. 283 (2023) 108565 [arXiv:2201.11669]
   [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Passera, The standard model prediction of the muon anomalous magnetic moment, J. Phys. G 31 (2005) R75 [hep-ph/0411168] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J.M. Henn, What Can We Learn About QCD and Collider Physics from N = 4 Super Yang-Mills?, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 71 (2021) 87 [arXiv:2006.00361] [INSPIRE].
- [47] G. 't Hooft and M.J.G. Veltman, Regularization and Renormalization of Gauge Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 44 (1972) 189 [INSPIRE].
- [48] P. Breitenlohner and D. Maison, Dimensional Renormalization and the Action Principle, Commun. Math. Phys. 52 (1977) 11 [INSPIRE].
- [49] S.A. Larin and J.A.M. Vermaseren, The  $\alpha_s^3$  corrections to the Bjorken sum rule for polarized electroproduction and to the Gross-Llewellyn Smith sum rule, Phys. Lett. B **259** (1991) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [50] S.A. Larin, The renormalization of the axial anomaly in dimensional regularization, Phys. Lett. B 303 (1993) 113 [hep-ph/9302240] [INSPIRE].
- [51] L. Chen, A prescription for projectors to compute helicity amplitudes in D dimensions, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 417 [arXiv:1904.00705] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Ahmed et al., Polarised Amplitudes and Soft-Virtual Cross Sections for  $b\bar{b} \rightarrow ZH$  at NNLO in QCD, JHEP **01** (2020) 030 [arXiv:1910.06347] [INSPIRE].
- [53] H.H. Patel, Package-X: A Mathematica package for the analytic calculation of one-loop integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 197 (2015) 276 [arXiv:1503.01469] [INSPIRE].
- [54] R. Mertig, M. Böhm and A. Denner, FEYN CALC: Computer algebraic calculation of Feynman amplitudes, Comput. Phys. Commun. 64 (1991) 345 [INSPIRE].
- [55] R.N. Lee, *Presenting LiteRed: a tool for the Loop InTEgrals REDuction*, arXiv:1212.2685 [INSPIRE].
- [56] R.N. Lee, LiteRed 1.4: a powerful tool for reduction of multiloop integrals, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 523 (2014) 012059 [arXiv:1310.1145] [INSPIRE].

- [57] A.V. Smirnov and F.S. Chuharev, FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic, Comput. Phys. Commun. 247 (2020) 106877 [arXiv:1901.07808] [INSPIRE].
- [58] J.M. Henn, Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251601 [arXiv:1304.1806] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Besier, P. Wasser and S. Weinzierl, RationalizeRoots: Software Package for the Rationalization of Square Roots, Comput. Phys. Commun. 253 (2020) 107197 [arXiv:1910.13251] [INSPIRE].
- [60] H.R.P. Ferguson and D.H. Bailey, A Polynomial Time, Numerically Stable Integer Relation Algorithm, RNRTechnical Report RNR-91-032 (1992).
- [61] C. Duhr and F. Dulat, PolyLogTools polylogs for the masses, JHEP 08 (2019) 135
   [arXiv:1904.07279] [INSPIRE].
- [62] H. Frellesvig, D. Tommasini and C. Wever, On the reduction of generalized polylogarithms to Li<sub>n</sub> and Li<sub>2,2</sub> and on the evaluation thereof, JHEP 03 (2016) 189 [arXiv:1601.02649] [INSPIRE].